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BOMWAN, Circuit Judge.

Martin Czeck was convicted after a jury trial of six crinmes relating
to controlled substances and firearns. On appeal, he raises two Fourth
Anendnent issues, and he chall enges the sufficiency of the evidence on two
firearms-related counts. W affirm

Pursuing different |eads, Mnnesota state and Hennepin County |aw
enforcenent officials began in early 1995 to suspect Czeck of distributing
marijuana. On February 1 and February 16, state officers |istened on a
hi dden transnmitter as informant Theodore Chm

The Honorable Ortrie D. Smith, United States District Judge
for the Western District of Mssouri, sitting by designation.



twice purchased a quarter-pound of nmarijuana from Czeck at Czeck's
residence on Eleventh Avenue South in M nneapolis. Based on this
infornmation, officers obtained a search warrant for Czeck's residence
aut onobi | es, and person. Several days later, on February 22, Chm and an
associ ate purchased an ounce of cocaine from Czeck at his residence.

Later in the evening of February 22, Czeck left his residence with
his friend James Flores. Flores drove to his residence on Fifth Avenue
Sout h. The two nen went into the house, and when they cane out a few
mnutes |ater, Czeck was carrying a paper bag. As Flores and Czeck were
driving back in the direction of Czeck's residence, a state police officer
radi oed a county sheriff's deputy to stop the car and arrest Czeck. Wen
officers did so, they discovered a pound of marijuana in the paper bag at
Czeck's feet and a nunber of keys on Czeck's person

One officer then asked Flores to drive to a nearby parking |ot
Because this officer had previously received information that Czeck was
storing drugs at Flores's house, he asked Flores for pernission to search
the Fifth Avenue house. Flores agreed and signed a consent form During
the search, Flores directed officers to a | ocked yell ow tool box that he
said belonged to Czeck. After obtaining a search warrant, officers opened
the tool box with one of the keys obtai ned from Czeck, and they discovered
four pounds of marijuana inside.

Ot her officers executed the search warrant for Czeck's residence
On top of the kitchen cabinets, they discovered a .22 caliber pistol and
a .357 Ruger in a wooden box. The .357 was | oaded with holl ow point
bullets, and a box of matching bullets was found el sewhere in the kitchen.
Al so nearby were three additional pounds of marijuana and a triple-beam
scal e.



Finally, based on information froman informant, officers obtained
a search warrant for Czeck's brother's hone. In the basenent, they
di scovered two fire safes, which they opened with keys taken from Czeck.
The safes contained approxi mately $135,000 in cash, plus jewelry and coins.

Czeck was indicted on two counts of distributing, one count of
possessing with intent to distribute, and one count of conspiring to
distribute a controlled substance, in violation of 21 U S.C. 88§ 841(a)(1),
846 (1994); one count of using or carrying a firearmduring and in relation
to adrug trafficking crinme, in violation of 18 U.S. C. 8§ 924(c) (1994); and
one count of being an arnmed career crimnal (a five-tine felon in
possession of firearns), in violation of 18 U S. C. 88 922(g)(1), 924(e)
(1994).

Prior to trial, Czeck noved to suppress the bulk of the physica
evi dence against him contending that the evidence was the fruit of his
unlawful arrest and the unlawful search of Flores's residence. The
District Court? denied the notion. After a four-day trial, the jury found
Czeck guilty on all counts, and the court sentenced himto a total of 360
nonths in prison. The court also ordered Czeck to pay a conditional fine
of $125, 000, depending on the outcone of forfeiture proceedings in state
court.

.
A
Czeck's initial Fourth Arendnent argunent is that because the police

unlawfully arrested himin Flores's car without an arrest warrant, the
fruits of the arrest nust be suppressed. Czeck

2The Honorable Janes M Rosenbaum United States District
Judge for the District of Mnnesota, adopting the report and
recommendati on of The Honorable Franklin L. Noel, Chief Magistrate
Judge for the District of M nnesota.
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concedes that the officers had probable cause to arrest himon the basis
of the two controlled buys. The narrow question presented here, then, is
whet her an arrest warrant is required when police officers with probable
cause to arrest a suspect do so while the suspect is riding in an
autonobile on a public street. W think no arrest warrant is required in
such a situation.

A warrantless arrest in a public place is valid if the arresting
of ficer has probabl e cause. See United States v. Watson, 423 U S. 411,
418, 423-24 (1976); cf. Payton v. New York, 445 U. S. 573, 590 (1980)
(holding that arrest in suspect's hone ordinarily requires warrant).

Several courts have upheld, wi thout extensive discussion, arrests of
suspects who were in autonobiles located in public places. See United
States v. DeMasi, 40 F.3d 1306, 1312 (1st Gr. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.
Ct. 947 (1995); Ford v. United States, 352 F.2d 927, 928-29, 933 (D.C. Grr.
1965) (en banc); cf. United States v. Wxom 460 F.2d 206, 208-09 (8th Gr.
1972) (concluding warrantless arrest was proper; not clear from facts

whet her suspects were in car or preparing to get in car at time of arrest).
Czeck cites no authority for the proposition that a car that is in a public
place is not itself a "public place" for purposes of the Watson exception
to the warrant requirenent. Based on the reasoning of other Fourth
Amendnent deci sions, we believe the opposite is true: when a suspect is
in a car that is in a public place (and the suspect is thus at |east
partially visible to the public), an officer with probable cause may arrest
the suspect without a warrant. See California v. Acevedo, 500 U S. 565,

579-80 (1991) (explaining scope of pernissible warrantl ess searches of
cars); United States v. Chadwick, 433 U S. 1, 12 (1977) (recognizing "the
di m ni shed expectation of privacy which surrounds the autonobile"); United
States v. Santana, 427 U. S. 38, 42 (1976) (holding that suspect standing
in doorway of home is in public place); United States v. Hoyos, 892 F.2d
1387, 1393-94 (9th Gr. 1989) (holding that suspect |ooking over backyard
fence at police is in public place), cert. denied, 498 U S. 825 (1990);
Uni t ed




States v. Varkonyi, 645 F.2d 453, 457-58 (5th Cr. Unit A May 1981)
(hol ding that suspect visible through business yard fence is in public

pl ace). W conclude that the warrantl ess arrest was proper.

It then follows that the search of the paper bag at Czeck's feet was
authorized as a search incident to Czeck's arrest. See New York v. Belton,
453 U. S. 454, 460-61 (1981) (holding that search incident to arrest nay
include contents of any container within passenger conpartnent); United
States v. Arias-Cardenas, 36 F.3d 36, 38 (8th GCir. 1994).

Czeck also challenges the search of Flores's residence and the
subsequent di scovery of the yellow toolbox on two related grounds: the
vol untariness of Flores's consent and the authority of Flores to consent
to the search of the particular roomat issue here.

W see no error inthe District Court's finding that Flores's consent
to the search was voluntary.? The governnent has the burden of
denonstrating vol untariness by a preponderance of the evidence, and we will
reverse only on a showing of clear error. See United States v. Mller, 20
F.3d 926, 930 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 226 (1994).
Vol unt ari ness depends on the totality of the circunmstances, see Schneckl oth
v. Bustanonte, 412 U S. 218, 227 (1973), and we have previously identified
el even factors that informthe inquiry, see United States v. Chaidez, 906
F.2d 377, 381 (8th GCr. 1990). The essence of Czeck's argunent is that
Fl ores was in custody when he purportedly consented to the

3A nore recent case holds that the relevant touchstone is
whet her the officer reasonably believed that the consent to search
was voluntary. See United States v. Sanchez, 32 F.3d 1330, 1335
(8th Gr. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 1119 (1995). Because the
evi dence at the suppression hearing was not devel oped along this
line, we will limt our reviewto the District Court's finding that
the consent was in fact voluntary.
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search and that the presence of nultiple police cars and arned officers
caused Flores to acquiesce in the officers' request. The custodial status
of the consenting party is not determnative, however. See Mller, 20 F. 3d
at 930. Even if Czeck is correct that Flores was in custody at the tine
of his consent--a question we need not determne here--the District Court
did not clearly err in concluding that Flores's consent was voluntary, in
light of Flores's age, sobriety, and experience with the crininal justice
system as well as the facts that Flores was detained only briefly, did not
rely on any police msrepresentations, was in a public place when he
consented, aided the police in the search, and (nbst inportantly) signed
a consent formclearly explaining that he had the right to refuse consent.
See Chaidez, 906 F.2d at 381; United States v. Hathcock, No. 96-1501, slip
op. at 8-9 (8th Cir. Jan. 9, 1997).

Nor do we believe that the District Court erred in finding that
Flores had authority to consent to the search of the Fifth Avenue
residence. Flores testified at the suppression hearing that he rented a
roomto Czeck--the bedroomin which the yellow tool box was found--and that
he never entered the room without Czeck's pernission. Czeck also
i ntroduced evidence that two police officers indicated in search warrant
applications that they had been told by informants that Czeck rented a room
fromFlores. The governnent countered with evidence that Flores referred
to the roomas his own bedroom that the door to the roomwas unl ocked, and
that all of the contents of the room other than the tool box appeared to
belong to Flores (utility bills in Flores's nane, an address book that
i ncl uded Czeck's phone nunber, and clothing that was far too snmall to fit
Czeck, anong other itens).*

4Czeck's counsel relied on this evidence at trial when he
changed course and suggested that the tool box, Iike the other itens
in the room belonged to Flores, not Czeck.
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The governnment may obtain consent for a warrantless search fromthe
defendant or "froma third party who possesse[s] common authority over or
other sufficient relationship to the prem ses or effects sought to be
i nspected.” United States v. Matlock, 415 U S. 164, 171 (1974). The
relevant inquiry is whether the facts available would have justified a

reasonabl e officer in the belief that the consenting party had authority
over the prenmises. See Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U S 177, 188 (1990).
W review the District Court's determ nation for clear error. See lron
Wng v. United States, 34 F.3d 662, 665 (8th Gr. 1994).

W note first that the District Court expressly found Flores's
testinony not credible to the extent that Flores suggested he did not have
authority to consent to the search. Even if we put that finding to one
si de, however, we recognize that nothing Flores did or said at the tine of
the search would have indicated to a reasonable officer that Flores was
wi thout authority to consent to the search. In fact, Flores referred to
the roomat issue as his own bedroomand led the officers intoit. Czeck
nmust therefore rely on the fact that several of the officers involved in
the search evidently had information that Czeck rented a room from Fl ores.
But in the circunstances of this case, where everyone invol ved believed
that Czeck resided on Eleventh Avenue, the officers' know edge is
consistent with Flores's having commobn authority over the prenises. A
reasonabl e officer could have concluded (correctly, it seens) that Czeck
paid Flores noney for the privilege of storing drugs in Flores's house but
that Flores still retained commobn authority over the whol e of the house.
Cf. id. (concluding that it was not unreasonable to believe that consenter
had authority to consent to search of house, even though she had no key and
had to clinb in through window; United States v. Brokaw, 985 F.2d 951, 954
(8th CGr.) (holding that it was reasonable to believe that | andowner coul d

consent to search of trailer, even though defendant was inside trailer),
cert. denied, 510 U S 913 (1993); United States v. Englebrecht, 917 F.2d
376,




377-78 (8th CGr. 1990) (holding that it was reasonable to believe that
"cohabi t ant/ enpl oyee" of defendant could consent to search of cars parked
near hone out of which auto sal vage busi ness operated), cert. denied, 499
U S 912 (1991). W conclude that the District Court correctly denied
Czeck's notion to suppress.

A

Czeck al so challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to show that
he used or carried a firearmduring and in relation to a drug trafficking
crime. W view the evidence in the light nost favorable to the jury's
verdict, and we wll "reverse for insufficient evidence only if no
reasonabl e jury could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonabl e
doubt." United States v. Roach, 28 F.3d 729, 736 (8th Cir. 1994).

This case went to trial shortly after the Suprene Court decided
Bailey v. United States, 116 S. C. 501 (1995). In Bailey, the Court
restricted the neaning of "use" of a firearmto situations in which the

defendant actively enploys a firearm which includes "brandishing,
di spl aying, bartering, striking with, and nost obviously, firing or
attenpting to fire, a firearm" 1d. at 508. But the Court al so added that

a reference to a firearm calculated to bring about a change in the

circunstances of the predicate offense is a “use,' just as the silent but

obvi ous and forceful presence of a gun on a table can be a “use.'" |d.

Both officers who listened in on the controlled buy on February 16
testified that they heard Czeck nention that he had a .357 available if his
nei ghbors did not care for his drug-peddling activities. Theodore Chm the
i nformant who nade the controlled purchase, testified that he did not
recall that Czeck nentioned a gun on February 16, but the jury neverthel ess
coul d have credited



the testinony of the officers. GChmalso testified about another occasion
on whi ch he purchased cocai ne from Czeck. Wen Chmarrived, a | oaded . 357
was on a table in Czeck's living room Later, Czeck, who had been snoking
crack cocai ne, wal ked around the house with the gun in his hands, | ooking
out the wi ndows and acting nervous. On another occasion, Chmtestified,
Czeck nentioned that he was not worried about being robbed of noney or
drugs because he had several guns with which to protect hinself; Czeck then
took the .357 down fromon top of the kitchen cabinets and showed it to
Chm Chmtestified that, after seeing the weapon, he was aware that he was
dealing with an arned individual, and he stated that that know edge
affected how he dealt with Czeck. Another infornmant, Leonard Kahn, rel ated
asimlar incident in which Czeck nade reference to a firearmduring a drug
sal e; Kahn al so suggested that the reference to the firearmaffected his
deal i ngs with Czeck.

We believe this evidence supports the governnent's theory that
Czeck's frequent references to his guns during drug transactions were
"calculated to bring about a change in the circunstances" of the underlying
drug offenses. 1d. By nmaking it plain to his custoners that he was arned
and willing to defend his business, Czeck di scouraged them from any attenpt
to rob himand effectively may have warned them that negotiation over the
price and quality of his wares was not encouraged. Recent post-Bailey
deci sions have confirned that this type of intindating reference to a

weapon constitutes "use" of the weapon. See United States v. Jones, 84
F.3d 1206, 1211 (9th Cir.) (holding that defendant's claimto bank teller
that he had a gun and fact that gun was found in his possession were
sufficient to constitute use), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 405 (1996); United
States v. Davis, 76 F.3d 311, 315 (9th Gr. 1996) (holding that show ng gun
to acconplice to intimdate himwas sufficient to constitute use); Pol anco
v. United States, 935 F. Supp. 372, 375 (S.D.N. Y. 1996) (concluding that
presence of nearby co-conspirator with gun in waistband of pants was
sufficient to constitute use); cf. Beal v. United States, 924 F. Supp. 913,
916




(D. Mnn. 1996) (holding that "nmacho braggadoci 0" in tel ephone conversation
with co-conspirator about defendant's wllingness to use firearns was
insufficient to constitute use).

Finally, Czeck challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to show
that he possessed a firearm a predicate of his conviction as an arned
career crinmnal. W think the evidence detailed in the foregoing
di scussion is sufficient to show that Czeck actually possessed the . 357,
but there is also anple evidence of constructive possession. Czeck argues
that the Eleventh Avenue residence was not his home but the home of his
girlfriend, and the evidence does show that the utilities were in her nane.
However, during their search of the hone, officers discovered the deed to
the premises in Czeck's nane and Czeck's dental records show ng the
El event h Avenue address. After his arrest, Czeck had officers take himto
the El eventh Avenue hone so he could retrieve a special breathing apparatus
he needed for sleeping. Several drug custoners indicated that the H eventh
Avenue house was Czeck's hone, and police surveillance indicated that Czeck
was there early in the norning and late at night. This evidence is
certainly sufficient to denpbnstrate that the El eventh Avenue hone was
Czeck's residence and that he had "domi nion over the premises.” United
States v. Boykin, 986 F.2d 270, 274 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 510 U S. 888
(1993). Even aside from the evidence of his actual possession of the

firearms, then, there was sufficient evidence of his constructive
possession of themto support the conviction. See id.

V.
Czeck's pro se notion to supplenent the record is granted. W have

reviewed the argunents in his pro se nenorandum and have concl uded t hat
they are neritless. The judgnent of the District Court is affirned.
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